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PROLOGUE


Oxford Street, Paddington, 30 June 1959, 9.55am


Fight, flight or freeze.


They’re Simmo’s only options. Right ahead, a car has stopped suddenly. The bloke getting out has the unmistakeable look of a plainclothes detective.


Simmo bolts. In a flash, he’s off the footpath and racing across Oxford Street.


Drivers and pedestrians stare at the handsome young man suddenly causing this ruckus. With his black quiff and colourful shirt, he looks like one of those rock’n’roll troublemakers who teenagers pin up on their bedroom walls.


Simmo runs east, leaving the cop scrambling back to his car on the other side of the street.


Go, man, go.


Simmo knows if he gets caught, they’ll try to cage him again for a long time. That’s because he has been one busy crook these past few months he’s been free, committing armed robberies, blowing safes, breaking into shops and roaring through Sydney and across the state in dozens and dozens of stolen cars.


But what’s also got his given name – Kevin John Simmonds – riding high on the ‘Most Wanted’ list is that he’s repeatedly shamed the cops, having outrun and outwitted them in not one or two but three massive manhunts.


Now that Simmo has broken cover, a blue swarm will again try to catch him. They’ll seal off and search Paddington and Darlinghurst and the rest of eastern Sydney.


But Simmo can still escape all of them – if he first gets clear of this one copper.


Behind him, the plainclothes man is back in his car and roaring up the other side of Oxford Street.


Simmo hammers the footpath, passing shops, dodging civilians. He’s lean and muscular, has never been in better shape. Unlike most criminals, he doesn’t smoke or drink but instead does a lot of exercise and drinks a lot of milk. He’s said to be the fittest crim in Sydney.


As soon as he’s out of the detective’s sight, he’ll be able to stop running blind and start running smart. Only then can he freeze. Going to ground works like a bloody charm if you do it at the right moment and have the nerve to sit tight long enough. Let the cops run themselves ragged while you rest and get ready to make your next move.


Simmo runs south along Regent Street in Paddington, flaking terraces flashing by. The detective in the pursuit car is across Oxford and burning after him. Simmo zigs right, into Renny Street, and then zags right again, up a lane, trying to get deeper into the slum’s maze. He ducks left into a dunny lane made narrower by parked cars and is rewarded by the screech of cop brakes.


If this detective wants to catch him, he’ll have to chase him down on foot. Simmo left the last one who tried in his dust. He streaks by rickety back fences, swirling the septic air in his wake. But behind him comes a rising backbeat: the slap, slap, slap of the cop’s shoes.


Louder. Closer.


Simmo glances back. The detective is coming on strong, showing no signs of slowing. He’s a young sportsman. Not one of those porkers who lives on cigs, beer and pies. At least this cop’s not shooting at him, not like some of the others who’ve chased him. Not yet, anyway.


Simmo rounds a corner out of the lane and snaps right and back onto Renny Street. Up ahead looms the high sandstone wall of Victoria Barracks. If he turns right when he hits Oatley Road, it’s uphill straight back to Oxford Street, where other cop cars might head him off.


Simmo dashes left, whipping by iron-fenced terrace houses. From here, it’s a straight shot down Oatley to Moore Park Road and the Sydney Showground. But they’re too far away – and he’ll be in view the whole way.


Simmo runs left, onto Stewart Street, up by more forbidding terraces.


Another look over his shoulder. The bloody detective’s hard on his heels. Simmo’s not tiring. But neither is the cop. And this bloke is faster than he is.


Then – a terrace with an open door. Simmo charges through the front gate, leaps up the front steps and hurtles along the hallway.


He bursts into the kitchen, where the woman of the house startles as he grabs the back door’s handle and tries wrenching it open. Across the rear yard. Over the fence. Up and away. That’s the idea.


The back door is locked.


The young detective rushes into the kitchen.


Simmo whirls into a judo stance.


He’s tried flight. He can’t freeze.


Fight.









Part 1


From Boy to Man
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Death: The First Memory


Like everyone, Simmo was first meant to serve a full nine months. But he escaped, broke out before his time, blood everywhere as light dazzled his eyes and air inflated his lungs for his first scream. Two months premature and half the size he should’ve been, there was a risk the boy might not live – and the same went for his teenage mother, who lay critically ill in Crown Street Women’s Hospital.


As she fought her own battle, her tiny firstborn son was wrapped in cotton wool and hurried to the ‘Giant Incubator’. Despite the grand name, this was a modest steam-heated room. In his cot, alongside other little inmates struggling into life, the boy was doted on by a veteran matron and her nurses, who’d feed him as much milk as possible by any means necessary.


It was Thursday 22 August 1935.


Outside, Sydney also hovered in a sickly state, not yet clear of the Great Depression. Like millions of Australians, the premature boy’s father and mother had done it tough for years now, and their first child’s difficult birth was just the latest of their many trials.


~


The newborn’s father, John Simmonds, revealed almost nothing about his background to his wife or children. He’d go so far as to claim he made up his name when he fled Tasmania at the age of fourteen after his angry stepmother split open his head with a heavy teapot. Yet, on official forms, he’d list himself as born to John Simmonds Snr and Florence Gibson in Launceston in January 1909. In any event, reaching the mainland, young John – who’d go by ‘Jack’ – did whatever work he could get. Not that he would’ve been any foreman’s first pick of labourers; Jack was asthmatic, slight at five feet two inches, and weighed 120 pounds soaking wet. His surviving daughter Dawn tells me that her father suffered ‘small man syndrome’ and it made him angry, mean and violent. With his gaunt features and thinning hair, even as a youngish man he’d be nicknamed ‘Old Jack’. By the start of 1934, the fifth year of the Great Depression, his itinerant labours had taken him to Bathurst, where he met Sheila Finn.


When Sheila was born in Paddington in January 1919, her parents already had a clutch of kids, who ranged from a toddler to teenagers. Her mother, Hilda, did her best to support the brood by working as a chef, while her father, John, did his best to piss and gamble away the family income.


Sheila didn’t get much education. By the time she was ten, she spent her days doing housework and taking care of her siblings: Elsie, three years older, and Jimmy, two years younger. While there was still hope for these three Finn kids, you wouldn’t say the same of the older ones. Three of Sheila’s big brothers had been criminals since before she was born, committing burglaries, car thefts and assaults from as young as nine and being sent to reformatories and then prisons. Another older sister was also wild, a runaway who’d be sent to an institution before resorting to sex work and then marrying an infamous safecracker.


Around 1930, amid all this drama and with the Depression deepening, Hilda abandoned her parasitic husband and took the kids she could still save to Bathurst. She again worked as a cook. Sheila contributed to the coffers by slaving from dawn to beyond dusk for a delicatessen owner who paid her a pittance. While her life was drudgery, she retained a lightness of spirit, bringing cheer with her beautiful singing voice. Sheila was pretty, too, though a little like a dark-haired, dark-eyed doll. At just four feet nine inches and eighty pounds, she was a girl who could make little Jack Simmonds feel like a big man.


Sheila was fifteen. Jack was twenty-five. He was her escape – or so she hoped. They were married in a Catholic service on a bleak and wintry Friday in August 1934, when the big news was from Germany: President von Hindenburg was dead and Adolf Hitler had appointed himself as the nation’s new Führer. For four months or so, little Mr and Mrs Simmonds scratched for work in Bathurst. Nearly broke, they ‘rode the rattler’, hiding in a coal train hopper to get to Goulburn, hoping things would be better there. But it was a bust. So they stuck out their thumbs and went north.


In Sydney they found work – she as a maid, he as a gardener – with a family in Merrylands. Together, they’d earn decent money and have rent-free use of a cottage. Just in time, too, because Sheila fell pregnant around January 1935.


As soon as Sheila recovered from giving birth, she had to go back to work and leave her tiny boy to ‘fight desperately’ for his life in the hospital. Had he been born in Goulburn or Bathurst, he would surely have died. But, warmed by steam and fattened on milk, the baby survived and then thrived.


Sydney had given Kevin John Simmonds his first second chance at life.


~


Around October 1936, the Merrylands folk had to let Jack and Sheila go, and in one stroke they lost their jobs and their home. The timing couldn’t be worse: Sheila was pregnant again. Out of options, they used some of the money they’d saved towards their own house to buy a covered wagon and a couple of horses so they could go west like pioneers from a century earlier. Jobs were scarce, so Jack fixed fences and chopped wood for eggs and flour, meat and vegetables.


Six months later, the Simmonds family stopped in Narrandera, some 400 miles south-west of Sydney, setting up beneath pine trees near the railway station. Jack got paid work on the roads. Tiny and now heavily pregnant, Sheila’s domestic duties included lugging water from the other side of the tracks. But she couldn’t do it with Kevin tugging at her skirts. Nor could she leave him safely because he loved nothing better than playing on the railway line, stacking gravel like other boys might stack toy blocks. Her solution was to tie him loosely to one of the trees. That way he had a bit of freedom but was out of harm’s way and in the shade. She’d give him a biscuit and a cup of his beloved milk, and tell him she’d be back soon. Returning one day, Sheila was met by two constables and an angry townswoman hovering around her bewildered son. The lady had called the cops to save the poor kid leashed in the heat like a dog. Sheila explained her situation. The police took pity and let her off. But Jack can’t have been thrilled his wife had a run-in with the police. On top of the suspicion cops already felt about road people like them, he didn’t need them thinking he and Sheila were the bad parents of a neglected child.


Sheila had a baby girl in Narrandera Hospital around April 1937. They named her Jean. She was a serene blonde-haired little angel, a stark contrast to her rambunctious dark-haired little devil of a brother. Soon both children were to have another sibling because Sheila fell pregnant again around the end of the year.


As Sheila’s due date grew near, they were headed for Griffith, fifty miles north-west and perhaps a better place to survive the drought that was becoming ever deeper. It was an unlikely Garden of Eden, having looked like hell on earth to early colonial eyes. John Oxley, the first European to see this area in 1817, believed no other white man would ever bother with the desolate landscape. He was wrong. A century later, the vast Murrumbidgee Irrigation Area project, which was to comprise more than 1200 miles of fresh water canals, along with the ingenuity of mostly Italian immigrant farmers who grew citrus and grains and almost everything else, transformed the arid countryside into Australia’s cornucopia. Water was life, and the township of Griffith – based on a design by American architect Walter Burley Griffin, who collaborated with his wife, Marion Mahony Griffin – had become a substantial district centre by the time the Simmonds family arrived. It had a wide main avenue, a new courthouse, a hospital and modern ambulance station, a local newspaper and radio station, a public primary school and even a high school planned. You could make a life in a place like this.


Sheila gave birth to a girl they named Doreen on 20 September 1938. Like Kevin, the baby had to remain in hospital. But at least Sheila would be able to bring her back to an actual home because Jack had taken a position as a tenant farmer for prominent local man Mr Mountford on a property at Lake View, a few miles west of town. Sheila would also have some help, because her mother, Hilda, was staying with them. What did worry Sheila was that there was an unfenced concrete water tank dug into the yard right near the cottage. Its contents had evaporated down to a few feet of green muck, but it was still a hazard for her children: Kevin, now three, and Jean, eighteen months. Mr Mountford didn’t want to fence it, because his chickens needed access, but Jack had the safety solution when on Sunday 2 October he built a gate on the veranda to keep the kids from wandering off.


Tuesday 4 October marked the start of the annual show, the biggest day on Griffith’s calendar. Despite the drought, and as testament to the district’s resilience, it was to have a record number of displays, competitions and sideshows. Everyone was excited; Sheila, too, but for a different reason – she’d bring baby Doreen home that day. That sweltering morning, Jack went out to work and Sheila got ready to leave for the hospital. At 8.30am, she said cheerio to Kevin, who was hustling about the house, and Jean, who was playing in her pram. Hilda was keeping an eye on the kids, who could now safely enjoy the shade of the veranda.


After Sheila left, Mr Mountford came to the farm, and he and a neighbour, Hamilton Martin, stood chatting. From inside the cottage, Hilda was surprised to glance out and see Kevin wandering in the backyard. She went to the veranda. Jean was gone. Hilda raced to the tank. She screamed. Jean was face down, limbs turning bluish, blonde hair haloed against the green surface.


Mr Martin ran to the tank, jumped in and handed Jean up to Mr Mountford. They called Griffith ambulance service and tried to revive the little girl. The town’s new fast car came speeding. The doctor couldn’t save Jean either. Sheila was told of the tragedy at the hospital. She was inconsolable.


Griffith police sergeant JT Ellis investigated. The tank was fourteen feet square, six feet deep and half-filled with green water. Six concrete steps led down one wall. They were wet, as though water had been spilled down them, and a toy wooden boat still floated on the surface. It seemed the boy had been playing there and his sister followed him into peril. Sergeant Ellis examined the gate that the father had installed on the veranda. It’d been bloody child’s play to push it open and escape. The sergeant tried to interview Kevin. The boy couldn’t tell him what had happened.


As Griffith people were enjoying the second and final day of the show, Jack and Sheila buried Jean in the Catholic section of Griffith Cemetery, her short life marked with a wooden cross that would in time splinter into nothingness against the red earth. An inquest was held at Griffith’s courthouse, with coroner Mr EW Johns recording that Jean had died of asphyxia but returning an open verdict because he couldn’t be certain how she drowned. While he heard that the boy had forced the gate, he didn’t hold him accountable. How could he? Kevin was only a toddler. Although Mr Johns spoke generally about the need for dams to be fenced to prevent such tragedies, he didn’t directly censure Mr Mountford or impugn Jack Simmonds for his slapdash handyman efforts. The inquest coverage in Griffith’s Area News marked the first time that Kevin Simmonds was in a newspaper article: the little escapee whose bid for freedom had resulted in the death of an innocent.


Hilda blamed herself for the rest of her life. Sheila wondered what sort of god would give her sickly little Doreen but snatch away perfectly healthy Jean. Yet Jack didn’t point the finger at Hilda or the heavens. Nor did he look at Mr Mountford – or in the mirror. Jack blamed Kevin. The father would never forgive the son, and he’d regularly remind him of this by belting him black and blue.


In October 1938, Kevin was unable to tell the sergeant what had happened, likely because he was in shock and frightened to death of his dad. But Jean’s drowning was his first memory. As he would much later be quoted in the magazine Weekend:


I suppose there are very few people who can remember something that happened when they were three years old. I can. I’ll never forget it. I watched my little sister drown. She was only 18 months old and she crawled too close to the water when no one was watching. I heard her cry out and saw her disappear under the water. I ran to the water’s edge, but she was gone. Nothing since then has affected me quite so much.









2


Escape or Die


Jack and Sheila had no choice but to leave the cottage. They took the wagon into Griffith township and camped by the main canal. Once again, Kevin found a rope tied around his waist. This time it was because Old Jack was tossing him into the water and hauling him out. While these sink-or-swim lessons were supposed to ensure he didn’t die like his sister, the repeated sensation of drowning was surely also a punishment. Yet it was Jack’s close call with the canal that pushed the family even deeper into despair. When one of his horses slipped into the water, he gashed his knee so badly while saving the animal that he couldn’t work.


Jack reluctantly joined the ranks of the officially unemployed, signing on for the government sustenance payment – the ‘susso’ – that would cover the most basic of foods, and registering for relief work that would be assigned if and when available. He was allotted a block in the official unemployment camp, a motley collection of tents and shacks on the town’s eastern fringe. Their new neighbours banded together to make the Simmondses a hut in the traditional style from kerosene tins and lime-washed sacks.


That summer saw the camp become a furnace, with one of the worst heatwaves in Australian history, and in January 1939 the temperature was well over 100 degrees Fahrenheit (37.8 degrees Celsius) for eleven consecutive days. Across the border, Victoria burned in the Black Friday bushfires, and around Griffith birds fell from the baking skies, fish bloated in the sludgy river and twenty-eight people dropped dead. Conditions in the Simmonds’ family hut had to be unbearable. Then, a month after the heatwave, more heartbreak threatened: the town councillors, who thought the squalid camp was as much a haven for bludgers as a refuge for battlers, had plans to evict everyone, raze the dwellings and sell the land.


Jack had healed and got relief work digging post holes. Though it was a precarious existence, as he could be fired at any moment without cause, from September 1939 there might be more job opportunities as a lot of blokes were enlisting to fight in the new war with Germany. Around this time, the Simmondses also had a modest claim to local fame because Jimmy, Sheila’s little brother, was a popular district boxer who fought under the name ‘Tiger Finn’. It had to be a thrill for Kevin to see Jimmy cheered by crowds at Griffith’s Memorial Hall and Rio Theatre as he bested the likes of Ike Meehan and Bully Smith. But Jimmy’s more lasting legacy was that he inculcated in his nephew a love of physical fitness and coached him in the basics of boxing.


With the Griffith camp’s destruction underway, Jack returned the family to Sydney. He got a job packing fruit and they lived in vermin-ridden slum housing near Moore Park. Sheila, who was pregnant again, kept house as best she could. But she could do little to ensure it was a happy home, not with her husband always a brutish and brooding presence.


Jack was also tight with ‘his’ money. When Sheila went into labour in May 1941, she had nothing for a taxi fare and had to walk three miles to the hospital. She had a daughter, who she’d name Jan. With a new baby, and Doreen not yet three, Sheila’s weekday burden would’ve been lessened with Kevin starting school. But, despite his intelligence, he didn’t fit in the education system – or so he later said:


When I saw all the other kids howling and hanging on their mothers’ dresses on the first day of school, it made me feel embarrassed and I turned away. That made me sort of outcast. You know how people need someone they can criticise? Well, at school, I was the chosen one.


Kevin was a bright if daydreamy kid who could get good grades without trying too hard. But because he loved exercise, he threw himself into sports. Then, all of a sudden, his fitness mentor was gone. Jimmy, who’d lived nearby with Hilda, enlisted in the Second Australian Imperial Force in June 1941. Uncle Tiger – who’d taken on all-comers in the ring – now stood ready to fight the Führer’s goons in Europe. It wasn’t to be, not with Japan entering the war six months later, and, in February 1942, Jimmy was one of the thousands of Aussies missing after the fall of Singapore. The wait for any news about his fate was harrowing.


Old Jack enlisted in May 1942, leaving Sheila to fend for herself with three kids, but he never got further than training at Bathurst. He was medically discharged in March of the following year after numerous hospitalisations for asthma. Jack’s doctor advised that his health might improve in the fresh air of the country. The medico knew just the place: Hay. It was a strange suggestion, given this town in the Riverina was known for its apocalyptic dust storms. Yet Jack followed his advice. He got a job as a storeman with McClure’s, Hay’s landmark department store, and uprooted his family yet again, although at least they made this 400-mile journey by rail rather than wagon.


For Kevin, now seven, stepping out of the train carriage at Hay must have felt like stepping into a Hollywood war movie. Right there, opposite the railway station, was a real prisoner of war camp, complete with guard towers and barbed wire fences. Originally built to accommodate Jewish ‘enemy aliens’ who’d been expelled from England and shipped to Australia aboard the infamous Dunera, by autumn 1943 the sprawling complex held mainly Italian POWs. Army trucks rumbled in and out of the main gate, soldiers with rifles marched everywhere and at night searchlights swept the sky.


Impoverished as they were, the Simmondses had no choice but to rent a house right next to the camp. While Sheila was terrified of bullets flying during an escape, Kevin would sit on his backyard fence and talk to the Italians through the wire. He also took shortcuts to school along the road that ran between two of the camps and would even say he broke into one of the enclosures, presumably so he could then test his escape skills. While most Australians feared and loathed Italians as the enemy, Kevin learned that they weren’t bad chaps at all. The majority weren’t fascists and hadn’t wanted to fight. It was also clear they weren’t being mistreated. By then, Jimmy had been confirmed as a POW in Borneo and Kevin had to hope the Japs were treating him as decently, at least until Tiger escaped, which, as every boy knew, was the duty of every prisoner.


Not that you’d know it from the laidback Italians, who were mostly content to see out the war in Hay. But there was a fantastic exception to this rule. Lieutenant Edgardo Simoni had been captured at Bardia and was first held in Murchison Camp near Shepparton. Escape was said to be impossible. Simoni broke out in June 1942. ‘Wanted’ posters showed photos of the handsome young officer – and an artist’s impressions of what he might look like with a haircut and/or rimless glasses and/or a little moustache. Undetected, Simoni got to Melbourne, where, under an alias, he sold cosmetics door to door and became the company’s top salesman, which even got his photo in a local newspaper. After ten months, he was captured in Mildura. As Simoni had committed a few petty crimes on the run, in June 1943 he was sentenced to serve six months in solitary in Hay’s little civilian gaol, after which he’d returned to the main camp. But in November 1943, warders found a crude dummy beneath the blankets on Simoni’s cell bunk. The cheeky bastard had left them ten shillings and a note that read, ‘Sorry for the trouble, have a pot of beer to my health. Goodbye for the present.’ Simoni had used a file to gradually saw through the bars in the tiny windows set high in his cell’s back wall.


His second cross-country escape saw him row down the Murrumbidgee in a stolen boat, coolly ignore a gun-toting farmer and follow bush routes suggested by Indigenous people. Eventually, he again reached Melbourne. This time the fugitive – nicknamed ‘La Volpe’ – was free for two months before he was caught and returned to Hay. Local kids heard much about him, and Kevin likely took particular interest, given their surnames had the same origin. Yet even an eight-year-old daydreamer who sympathised with Italian POWs might’ve thought it a bit far-fetched to fantasise that he would one day also be nicknamed ‘The Fox’, and that touched-up versions of his wanted photos would be seen around Australia as he evaded the police during epic cross-country escapes.


But it’s possible that McClure’s department store offered Kevin inspiration for more believable criminal adventure scenarios. For any boy raised in camps and slums, stepping into his father’s famous workplace had to be like stepping into another world. It sold everything, and even if you couldn’t afford anything, looking cost nothing. Neither did dreaming about pulling off an overnight heist. How easy it would be for a small boy to hide and wait for everyone to leave! Then he could get whatever he wanted and get away before anyone was the wiser. Almost every kid realises that such a crime would come a cropper when pesky parents missed them at tea time and bedtime, and so almost every kid soon sets aside and forgets such foolish fantasies. Kevin wasn’t every kid. He didn’t do it then but he’d eventually try just such a caper.


Ever unlucky, Old Jack suffered yet another leg injury. Soon after, he decided they would move on from Hay. Buying another horse and wagon, he took the family back to Griffith around the autumn of 1944, which set the Simmondses back to square one.


~


Jack got a live-in job as caretaker at the Griffith Showground. Kevin went to the public primary school, just across the road. Students didn’t wear uniforms. Many of the little toughies also went barefoot, and they all hated the cramped and freezing/sweltering classrooms, which they nicknamed the ‘Dog Kennels’. New kid Kevin made friends with Bill Cadorin. Eighty years later, Bill remembers his third-grade mate as clever and fun to be around. ‘He was a good kid,’ he tells me in a Griffith cafe. ‘Good company. He wasn’t an angry boy – or a boy looking for fights.’ Bill was amazed that Kevin could play ‘Silent Night’ and lots of other tunes on his three-bar mouth organ. He could sing, too, like his mum. While Kevin was smart and talented, he could also be a cheeky character. One day, in maths class, when Mr Hunt was chalking at the blackboard, Bill watched wide-eyed as his mate loaded a peppercorn into his little blowpipe and – wfffthppp! – bulls-eyed the back of the teacher’s bald noggin. Mr Hunt whirled, enraged, demanding, ‘Who did that?’ Kevin stared at his desk, keeping a lid on his hysterical excitement. That time he got away with it.


At lunchtime, Simmo and Bill would play marbles and games with bottle caps, and trade empty cigarette packets they collected because fathers and older brothers kept the cigarette cards for themselves. After school, they and other boys would play cricket or hang out at the canal until it was tea time. At weekends, Griffith kids went to the pictures whenever they could afford it. Even more than most of his generation, Kevin was to have a deep love for the movies. Griffith’s best picture palace was the Lyceum, which was then showing plenty of American and British war movies. Of course, before these gung-ho action features came the newsreels, which showed how the Japs were being pushed back across the Pacific. That meant Uncle Jimmy, who Kevin had grown to look like, would be back home soon.


Then, in August 1945, in a couple of atomic flashes, the Second World War was over. Jimmy was missing again as jubilation was soured by revelations of Japanese war crimes. Eventually, the family learned he had been one of 2700 POWs taken to Sandakan. In the early days, conditions were tolerable and Jimmy was dubbed the ‘Pocket Atlas’ for the boxing prowess that he displayed in matches the bored Japanese guards then allowed. Such sportsmanship was short-lived. The POW huts were burned down, leaving the men to live and die in the open as filthy, starving, diseased, lice-ridden and boil-covered skeletal shadows of their former selves. From January to May 1945, the 2400 surviving prisoners were forced into marches to Ranau, 140 miles across the mountains. Six men escaped. Jimmy was not one of them. Almost all the prisoners died of starvation or disease or were shot, stabbed or beaten to death by the Japanese. Jimmy was among the sixteen who managed to stay alive – only to be massacred with these men either on 9 August 1945, the day Nagasaki was destroyed, or two weeks later, after the Japanese had officially surrendered.


Whenever it was, Jimmy’s vengeful execution was a crime against humanity – as was the cruel and brutal treatment that preceded it. Civilised nations just did not treat prisoners that way.


Simmo was ten years old when Jimmy’s fate was confirmed and the name Sandakan was seared into the Australian soul. If being on the receiving end of Old Jack’s hatred and violence since Jean’s death had made him feel like he’d been wrongfully convicted, and living by the Hay internment camp had given him sympathy for those behind wire, then imagining what Jimmy had gone through might’ve seeded another belief. If you found yourself imprisoned, you had to escape or die trying, because they might eventually kill you anyway.
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The Lone Wolf


Jack moved the family into a rented house on Jondaryan Avenue and started working for himself as a carter. To those outside the family, he was a small businessman, a good husband raising three children and a ‘returned man’ admirably active in the Australian Legion of Ex-Servicemen and Women. They didn’t see him as a husband who treated his wife as a slave, or as a father who terrified his children, going so far as to put on his souvenired steel-toed Army boots when he deemed his son needed a good kicking.


Kevin was still trying to please. When he sang for members and guests at one of his father’s Legion meetings, the contribution by ‘Master Kevin Simmonds’ was mentioned in The Area News. At the age of twelve, he followed in Jimmy’s footsteps with a boxing match at the Rio Theatre. He won and saw his name in the paper again. As a singer or fighter, maybe one day he would be famous.


Yet being infamous became his shortcut to the spotlight. Kevin thought nothing of chucking a classmate’s books out the window – or clobbering any schoolkid who bullied him. He claimed not to have started it. ‘They used to abuse me and sometimes throw stones at me,’ he’d later say, ‘but after the first fight none of them ever tried to hurt me – physically, that is.’ His young sister Jan remembered him as the ‘despair of every teacher’ who ‘won his arguments with his fists’ – just like Jimmy had taught him: ‘With his powerful fists and hard stocky body, Kevin was feared, and consequently left alone by his schoolmates.’


Kevin would later recall he wanted it that way:


I became a lone wolf and I liked it. I used to go for long prowls in the bush by myself, blazing a trail for miles with my sheath knife. Out there, away from the taunts of kids, the smell of school, and the discipline of teachers, I felt free and a part of everything. I would walk until I found a creek. Then I would lie on my back in the soft moss, smell the dampness, listen to the water, and stare at the sky through the trees. Sometimes I’d lie there until it was dark, just thinking and working things out and feeling good and free. Then I’d realise I was late for dinner. And I’d jump and race through the bush, stopping every now and then to look for a blaze on a tree. I was always getting home late for tea and Dad used to give me a good hiding.


If escaping from everyone was the fantasy, then a Griffith character had shown just how far you could take it. Since the late 1920s, an Italian migrant named Valerio Ricetti had lived in caves as the hermit of Scenic Hill, part of the range overlooking Griffith. But he hadn’t just hidden, he’d made himself a beautiful kingdom. Using tools and materials scavenged from rubbish tips, and stones collected from the surrounding bush, Ricetti enclosed caves to create rooms, constructed water catchments and stepped paths and little bridges between walled gardens in which he planted flowers, fruits and vegetables. Ricetti decorated his cave walls and even turned a cavern into his private chapel. After being released from his internment as an enemy alien, he was no longer allowed to live at his hermitage. Though it was vandalised and fell into disrepair, the Hermit’s Cave remained a favourite place for Griffith’s kids – and it set Kevin’s mind to thinking how he might use the thousands of crags and crevices up on Scenic Hill.


A photo from around this time shows Kevin dressed in his best: suit, shirt and tie. He looks respectable, a handsome lad with a cowlick of dark hair, but he meets the camera with a shrewd gaze and without the semblance of a smile. The picture may have been taken in 1946, when Jack put him into Griffith Convent School, hoping the harsh discipline of the Catholic nuns would sort him out. Schoolmate Barry Kemp remembers that Kevin was ‘pretty good’ academically but stood out most because he was ‘fitness mad’ and would ‘break his bloody neck’ in their physical education classes. ‘He was a lot better than everyone else,’ Barry says. ‘He really wanted to do it and he loved doing it.’ Like Bill Cadorin, Barry doesn’t remember Kevin causing trouble. ‘I was a bit surprised later on when I read about him,’ he says. ‘He was just another kid – everyone seemed to get on with him, but he didn’t seem to have any real friends.’ Kevin only lasted a couple of terms before it was back to the kennels of Griffith primary. He later said:


As I grew older, I became even more of a lone wolf. Sometimes I would walk out the front door and be gone for days. I’d live on milk and fruit stolen from nearby farms and sleep on beds of leaves. When I got home three or four days later, Dad would have his sleeves rolled up.


He became used to the violence. ‘I felt sorry for Mum, but when Dad beat me, I didn’t care what happened,’ Kevin said. ‘I wasn’t scared of him, I can’t remember ever being scared of anything.’ But once Jack had got his licks in, the boy knew he was in for more punishment:


Next day I’d go back to school and get the same from the teacher for wagging it. Sometimes it made me so furious I just got up from my desk and walked out of school. The same night I’d sneak back and take everything out on my schoolmates by stealing their books and pencils and throwing them into the bush. I had no respect for any of them, so it didn’t worry me. Many of the kids suspected what had happened to their books, but none of them could prove anything. If some of them had enough courage to ask me about it, I’d just slap them on the back and crack a big joke about it.


Kevin was always up for a laugh, despite the consequences he faced from his father and teachers. Jan recalled that in 1947 her brother improvised a skyrocket by packing as much gunpowder as he could into a tube. Kevin – who years later would be noted by the cops for never quite getting the hang of explosive devices – had meant to launch one of Jan’s dolls into space. Instead, his missile went wild and blew chunks out of their outdoor dunny. He ran from the yard, though he knew sooner or later he’d have to come back to face his father’s wrath.


Starting Griffith High School offered Kevin something more than dog kennel classrooms and unfair teachers. Inside this handsome two-storey red-brick building, teachers taught a solid academic curriculum along with wood and metalwork classes. There was the opportunity to play sports and take part in a cadet corps. Kevin didn’t buckle down. By then, Bill Cadorin says, his chum had a tendency to show off in an unusual way:


I remember quite well, first year high school, we were in 1B, a boy’s class, and if anyone mucked up and the teacher asked, ‘Who was doing that?’, then no-one would say anything. But Kevin would put his hand up and say ‘Me’. He’d take the blame – that was the whole thing.


Kevin would get up to six cuts of the cane. It wasn’t so much bravado, Bill says, but more that he thought it was funny – and that he wanted ‘to stand out from the rest of us’.


School report cards acknowledged he ‘has ability to do things’ and that he ‘could do a lot better’ but he ‘does not try hard’. Kevin was getting an education, just not from the teachers. He later said:


I was learning two things that would prove invaluable when I was older. First, you can get away with anything if you have enough front and a sense of humour. Second, I found that breaking the law seemed to make me forget my troubles. The older I got, the more reckless I got. And strangely enough, the more reckless I got the funnier everything seemed to become.


The larrikin was a show-off. The lad whose little sister had drowned and whose father had thrown him in the canal developed his lungs so he could hold his breath underwater for a long time. Kevin challenged other kids to best him. They never did. Upping the stakes and showmanship, he fashioned himself a diver’s helmet from a kerosene tin, complete with weights, hose and a rubber seal. Jan would recall, ‘A crowd gathered on the canal bank behind our house to watch as the Ned Kelly tin helmet was fitted over Kevin’s head. He slowly sank beneath the water to the loud applause of the onlookers.’ Seconds stretched. There was no movement in the water. Tension mounted until one of Kevin’s mates dived in and brought him to the surface. Water had flooded the helmet and blocked the air hose. With its weights and seal, it’d been too heavy to lift free. Kevin had nearly drowned – just like Jean – only in a complex self-asphyxiation. But the close call didn’t dampen his spirits. Jan wrote:


Kevin recovered to go on to bigger and better escapades, to the delight of the local kids who weren’t game to do daring things themselves but were happy to applaud from the sidelines. Kevin was only too willing to oblige.


While Kevin was high-spirited and good-humoured, he wasn’t everyone’s cup of tea. Kevin and a boy named Tony Gras rode their bikes together for a week. But Tony didn’t take to him. ‘He struck me as arrogant,’ Tony tells me from Griffith, ‘a bit domineering.’ Kevin’s school acquaintance Barry Moore was to say, ‘He couldn’t be told anything. He was always in some sort of mischief; he seemed to be trying to draw attention to himself all the time. In the cadet corps, he was always falling out when he wasn’t supposed to and throwing rifles over his shoulder.’


But another student, Clive Wilson, had really scathing things to say: ‘Kevin Simmonds was always a no-hoper. Most of the time he was just like any normal kid, but he seemed to have some sort of kink. One moment he was happy – and not long afterwards he seemed to be savage.’ Clive wasn’t to offer this recollection until late 1959. By then, he was a New South Wales police constable, posing in uniform with his .303 rifle, ready to blow away his former classmate as one of hundreds of heavily armed officers preparing for a bloody final battle with the most wanted man in Australia: Kevin John Simmonds.


~


Kevin turned to crime around the time that Jack and Sheila finally got their slice of the Great Australian Dream.


They borrowed heavily to build a modest three-room fibro cottage on an acre they bought cheaply in Kywong Street in the area called West End. This part of Griffith was a rough and hard place, where fathers brutalised wives and children in houses that had bare earth floors and lime-washed sacks for curtains. Max Patten, who lived in West End as a kid, tells me it was ‘the arsehole of the world’. Sheila was overjoyed at having a place she could call her own, and a photo from around this time shows her dancing in a giddy blur. But Sheila was also the one who’d have to work hardest to keep the bank from repossessing the house. With Kevin, Doreen and Jan all at school, she got a job as a cleaner at Griffith Hospital, riding her bicycle to start work at 6.30am and knocking off at 3.30pm so she could return home and slave for her family. Sheila didn’t have much choice but to take on this drudgery because Jack still hoarded ‘his’ money; he was secretly saving for a car, giving her only a pittance – or nothing – to run the household and pay their mortgage.


Jan was the first to see evidence of Kevin’s criminal endeavours. On Christmas Day 1948, she and her brother were wandering the streets, Jan pushing a cart she’d been given that morning. Suddenly, Kevin grabbed the handles and steered the wheels so it knocked a plank of wood away from a gutter, revealing someone’s ‘lost’ roll of £1 notes. As they scooped up the cash, Kevin talked his seven-year-old sister into believing they’d ‘found’ this money, because, with her as his witness, he mightn’t cop a hiding for stealing.


For a junior crim, Kevin showed plenty of ingenuity. Next, he used an opportunity to help his father finish the footpaths around the family home to cement jam tins into the slabs, stashing stolen cash and jewellery in these concrete caches. When Jan discovered her brother’s hiding spots, she said she wouldn’t dob him in – provided that he gave her half of the loot. With the deal struck, she thereafter became her brother’s occasional accomplice – and his staunchest admirer and ally.


He had other fans, too. Lola Schaefer was one of the West End girls. ‘I thought he was lovely, very handsome,’ she tells me in Griffith. ‘All the girls thought so.’ They knew he was a bit of a bad boy, but that only made their little hearts flutter faster.


Kevin’s luck ran out on 25 February 1949 when he was arrested by the Griffith police for breaking, entering and stealing money and property to the value of £14 15s 0d. Nothing more is known about this offence, other than it wasn’t officially entered into his criminal record, suggesting that Jack and/or Sheila pleaded for him to be let off with a caution rather than see him placed before the Children’s Court. Jack likely promised the local cops that his son would not escape punishment. Whatever beating he took, Kevin didn’t mend his ways and was soon again in trouble with the cops. From his child welfare form – ‘Has also stolen milk instead of purchasing it’ – it seems he’d regularly been entrusted with cash and sent to the shop to get a bottle or two. Instead, he’d made an illicit profit – and still brought home plenty of the drink he loved better than any other. At the end of July 1949, ‘KJ Simmonds’ was one of more than a dozen people fined ten shillings for being in a Leeton pub after hours. It was a minor offence and a minor punishment. But it made The Murrumbidgee Irrigator and was the first time his name was in the paper for breaking the law.


Kevin was done with school and got work as a post office messenger. He had his heart set on buying a .22 rifle. But Old Jack refused permission point blank. Kevin bought himself one anyway for his fourteenth birthday. His father flew into a rage. Grabbing an axe, Old Jack chopped the rifle into pieces and made the boy and his sisters watch as he fed the pieces into a bonfire and ranted and raved about the evils of guns.


Old Jack’s reaction was typically outrageous. But he did have cause for concern. His son’s recent run-ins with the law had coincided with the fearful rise of a new creature known as the ‘teenager’. What remained fresh in Australian minds was that in September 1948, seventeen-year-old William Harvey-Bugg had used a .22 to shoot dead the middle-aged brother and sister who’d hired him to work on their homestead near Lithgow. There had been a huge manhunt for this boyish-looking thrill-killer. The very night he was caught in Brisbane, the country was shocked by another senseless slaughter when seventeen-year-old Charles Ivan le Gallien stabbed his father to death in North Sydney. But what really sent chills up spines was that these two cold-blooded murderers were good mates, friends since meeting as members of the same ice hockey team. Harvey-Bugg and le Gallien would each be sentenced to life behind bars. They were the most horrific arguments for the case that juvenile crime had become a plague. The Sun noted, ‘Not only has there been a sharp rise in the number of capital offences committed by youths in the past year, but the majority of offenders in housebreaking and stealing classes are “teenagers”.’


Kevin got his hands on another rifle. This time he didn’t bring it home. Instead, he set off into the bush. He kept going and going. Was he out on one of his long walks? Or was he finally running away? Eight miles from Kywong Street, at the threshold where the former became the latter, he called Sheila and told her where he was. She paid a taxi driver to collect him. Old Jack was furious and the gun was confiscated. The war between father and son intensified.


Kevin was unrepentant. ‘By the time I was fourteen,’ he said, ‘I thought the whole world was a great big joke set on strings for me to pull. And then the joke took a sudden turn.’


On 28 November 1949, Kevin stumbled upon the best early Christmas present: £100! Old Jack’s secret stash of car cash. Revenge couldn’t be sweeter: his father would fund his escape. In a way, Kevin was only doing what his old man had done – running away from a violent parent at age fourteen. Not that Old Jack would see it that way. If Kevin took the money, he could never turn back.


He stole the cash. Perhaps remembering his mother’s stories of ‘riding the rattler’ when she was his age and escaping her small town, Kevin didn’t buy a ticket when he got to Griffith station and hopped on the train to Sydney. Old Jack came home that afternoon to find his money and his son gone. His fury shook the walls of the family house before he went to the police station.


Kevin made it to Grong Grong, a few hours up the line, before he was caught by the cops for fare evasion. The Narrandera police took him to their station, just down the hill from where they’d once ‘saved’ him from being tied to a tree by his mother. The cops called Mr and Mrs Simmonds of Griffith. Their son was a runaway. Jack told them about the stolen money. This time he wanted the boy charged.


At fourteen, Kevin might be sent to Mount Penang Training School for Boys. This was the new name slapped on the old Gosford Farm Home for Boys. Sheila knew what could result from being an inmate. Back when she was a girl, one of her brothers had been ‘sent to the mountain’ as a petty thief, only to emerge as a far more brutal and serious criminal. Yet her own son might avoid the same fate if the magistrate could be convinced to send him somewhere else. Sheila went to Reverend Father J Salmon, assistant Catholic priest at Griffith, to plead for Kevin. The priest then put his case to Father Thomas Dunlea, nationally famous for turning delinquents into decent citizens at Boys’ Town in Engadine, south of Sydney.


Nine days later, on Wednesday 7 December, Kevin John Simmonds, aged fourteen and three months, went before the Narrandera Children’s Court. He was presented as a ‘neglected child who’d been exposed to vice’. The child welfare report noted, ‘Both parents employed … Mother starts work at 6.30 a.m. Father very sick and when able starts work about 10 a.m.’ Jack did suffer from asthma. But him being ‘very sick’ seemed more about justifying why he sent the ‘little woman’ out to work when her place was in the home. The tragedy of this was that ten years later, almost to the day, as police stood ready to shoot her son dead, Sheila would still blame herself for not being there for Kevin when he was an adolescent, because she’d had to start work at 6.30am to support the family – which, like Jean’s death, was more Jack’s fault than anyone else’s.


Narrandera Children’s Court heard that Father Dunlea had agreed to accept responsibility for Kevin at Boys’ Town. The magistrate ordered that the lad be sent there indefinitely, instructing Sheila to escort her son to the institution immediately. Kevin would say he wasn’t fazed by his punishment, which was less severe than what he was used to:


For the first time in my life, I’d come up against that mysterious force my father had always spoken of – the law. And I found that the law didn’t worry me. The law was just another grown-up in a blue uniform and a grey-haired man behind a bench. They didn’t whip me or abuse me or starve me or threaten me [emphasis added]. They just announced that I was going to Boys’ Town and that didn’t worry me.


Kevin and Sheila took the train north from Narrandera that night. At the end of their 340-mile journey to rural Engadine, twenty miles south of Sydney, mother and son came along a gravel road to a spread of neat buildings amid gum trees that was home to around 130 boys. There were no walls, no wires, no guards, no guns. A sign said, ‘Visitors Welcome’.


Kevin was measured and weighed. He stood five feet three inches and was a sturdy nine stone. On his admission papers, his offences were boiled down to ‘stealing and running’. Sheila signed him in, stating he had been baptised and confirmed as a Catholic, and she agreed to pay a small fortnightly stipend towards his upkeep. Rather than list her phone number, she gave the number of Griffith Presbytery. This way any call about her son’s behaviour would not be answered by Jack. Sheila said her goodbyes.


Kevin had wanted to escape his father, and the law had helped him do just that. Only now he was getting a new father figure in Father Dunlea. Two days later, on 10 December 1949, the country went to the polls, and the Labor government lost in a landslide. Now all of Australia had a new father figure in Prime Minister Robert Menzies.


The 1950s were about to start. A decade later, when they were at an end, Menzies would still be in power, and even he’d be shouting about Kevin John Simmonds – Public Enemy No. 1.
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There’s No Such Thing As a Bad Boy


Kevin’s new home was again like stepping into the movies – specifically 1938’s Boys Town, which starred Spencer Tracy as Catholic priest Father Edward Flanagan, who’d set up the original Boys Town in Nebraska in 1917. Flanagan’s motto was simple: ‘There’s no such thing as a bad boy.’ This sentiment guided his mission to give orphaned and wayward lads the love, respect, education and sporting and career opportunities that he believed would keep them from being sent to reformatories and prisons and becoming worse criminals. The film was a smash hit everywhere, including in Sydney, and it inspired Catholic priest Father Thomas Dunlea to open his own Boys’ Town in August 1939. The local version was soon famous, and over the next decade quickly grew from a house to a bush camp to the sprawling complex in Engadine. Its success was due in part to Dunlea proving expert at fundraising and generating good news stories about young chaps given second chances to become productive members of society.


Like the real and reel American versions, Father Dunlea’s Boys’ Town lived up to its name: the place was governed by boys elected by boys. Per the tradition, Kevin would’ve been welcomed by the ‘mayor’, a lad his own age dressed in the robes of his office, and shown to his dormitory, where metal bunks were lined up in three long rows. Kevin was given a couple of suits and a small gift of money in a bank account, and he was assigned to one of the four ‘suburbs’, which were like school team houses. He was to follow a strict routine of early mornings, chores, class study, exercise and hobbies, before lights out at 9pm. While Boys’ Town was sectarian, Kevin had been enrolled as a Roman Catholic and was expected to attend mass every Sunday and on Holy Days. Eight ‘aldermen’ – two for each suburb – were responsible for general affairs, including the ‘court’, where they handed down punishments to boys who’d broken the rules.


Given Kevin’s age and that he’d already done a year of high school, he was to study a trade – and elected to pursue motor mechanics. He’d also embrace the opportunity to learn the piano accordion. One of the main ways boys kept fit, and worked out their aggressions, was in the boxing ring, both at the town and in displays and carnivals around Sydney. As one of the older and fitter youths, Kevin would have been a top contender. Certainly, he built himself up during 1950. The little boy with the cowlick was no more. In a photo from this time, shirtless Kevin pounds a boxing bag; in another, he grins for the camera, proud of his musclebound physique and looking older than his fifteen years.


Distance and her obligations to his siblings made it difficult for Sheila to visit regularly. Regardless, Kevin was enjoying the perfect balance of education, exercise, leisure, discipline, routine and religion. It was making him into a model citizen. This outcome was not open to question because there were only happy endings for the boys of Boys’ Town. At least this was what the newspapers told Australia. For instance, in November 1949, Smith’s Weekly claimed that Father Dunlea’s sanctuary had a record of:


not having produced a single failure. Through its gates have entered 1200 waifs, strays and orphans of all religious creeds. Among them has been a sprinkling of outlaws, delinquents, the deserted offspring of slum families, dunces of even the backward class … Through the same gates have gone out in the world 1200 useful citizens, all with a trade, some with a big future.


~


A week after Kevin was sent to Boys’ Town, the biggest and most exciting news story around Australia was about the daring escape of the sort of man that Father Dunlea was desperately trying to prevent his lads from becoming. Darcy Dugan and his accomplice William Mears had hacksawed their way out of a cell in Central Police Station, fled the building and then outrun the cops through the Sydney streets before jumping on a passing tram to freedom. Dugan was twenty-nine, dashing and dapper, and already a hero of criminal folklore, having previously escaped from a prison tram, a police van and Long Bay Gaol. Like Edgardo Simoni, Dugan was said to have left a cheeky message scrawled on a cell wall before one of these escapes – ‘Gone to Gowings’ – which was an advertising slogan used by Sydney’s most popular department store in the 1940s.


As 1950 began, Dugan and Mears committed armed hold-ups, their escapades taking a darker turn during an Ultimo bank job when they shot and seriously wounded the manager and also left a customer with a bullet injury. One hundred detectives joined the manhunt that dominated the headlines for weeks as journalists jostled for scoops dispensed by top cops.


The police’s apex predator and high priest to the pressmen was Detective-Sergeant Ray ‘the Gunner’ Kelly. Unmistakeable for his rimless glasses, centre-parted hair and impeccably tailored suits, in photos he seemed mild and small, like a suburban accountant. But in person, he was brave and broad-shouldered and stood six feet six inches tall.


Born in 1906 and raised in the central west of New South Wales, Kelly was a jackeroo in Queensland before joining the police in Sydney in 1929. Almost immediately, he was thrust onto the frontlines of the bitterest industrial disputes in Australian history, a foot soldier under Criminal Investigation Branch (CIB) chief and legendary tough bastard Inspector William J ‘Big Bill’ Mackay, who ordered his men to bash locked-out timber workers in Glebe and the Domain.


Later that year, official ferocity was unleashed on locked-out coal workers marching at Rothbury. The cops shot at them – killing one and badly wounding many others – and then spent six months beating and starving out working men and their families in a state-directed reign of terror.


Kelly’s own legend began soon after his return to Sydney. In August 1930, as a Newtown constable, he chased three young men in a stolen car. Kelly jumped on the footboard as they reversed from a lane, and the impetus threw him to the road. He claimed the youths had pushed him off and then tried to run him over. They said they were just changing gears and trying to get away. Kelly said he fired his revolver at them from the road. They said he was back on the running board and emptied his revolver at close range through the car window. Joe Swan, aged eighteen, swore from his hospital deathbed that Kelly hadn’t identified himself as a policeman and he thought he was a stick-up man. ‘I felt something pressed into my back,’ he said. ‘There was a shot fired and five shots after that.’ Kelly had badly wounded another youth, who testified to similar effect at the inquest. The constable was found to have acted in the execution of his duty. Kelly had his first kill and it earned him his most enduring nickname.


A year later, the Gunner was again on the frontlines of class warfare in Newtown during the ‘Siege of Union Street’, where cops stormed a house barricaded by anti-evictionists. Kelly was first to try to force his way in and was felled by a heavy blow on the head, which was a rallying cry for police and protestors to join a battle in which bullets and batons flew as stones and punches rained down. It was front-page news everywhere.


Kelly was a detective by 1936. As far as vices went, Kelly had plenty – just not the usual ones. Instead, he was, like his future nemesis Kevin John Simmonds, a fitness fanatic who reportedly didn’t smoke, drink or gamble.


At a time before official police media liaisons, Kelly was a master at manipulating a compliant press. His favourite crime reporter was Bill Jenkings from the afternoon tabloid The Daily Mirror. Sometimes Kelly would be named as the source; other times he’d be the ‘senior detective’ providing an inside scoop or a juicy quote. While Kelly often fed Jenkings first and best, he was canny enough to nourish all the crime beat scribblers who’d help him do his job and burnish his reputation. This included Jenkings’ arch rival, Noel Bailey of The Sun, and men working for The Daily Telegraph, The Sydney Morning Herald and Truth, along with those reporting for the radio and newsreels. These journos admired Kelly – and could be relied on to relay what he told them. For a hint that the Gunner was anything other than a hero, you’d need to pick up the filthy Commie rag Tribune, where columnist Rex Chiplin was bold enough to hint at the detective’s habit of bashing suspects by calling him a ‘walloper’. Even braver, he had the temerity to commit to print that Kelly’s other sobriquet was ‘Verbal’, explaining that it was ‘a nickname won by the frequency with which he tenders verbal “confessions” allegedly made by people he has arrested. Usual procedure is for a confession to be signed in front of witnesses’. Juries were inclined to take Kelly’s word and convict, with barely anyone outside the criminal and legal fraternities caring much about this widespread ‘noble cause’ corruption. More seriously and more secretly, Kelly also cultivated criminals for purposes that had nothing to do with enforcing the law and everything to do with enriching and entrenching himself. All of that, though, wouldn’t be exposed for decades.


At the height of his renown, Kelly’s official story was that he did everything by the book and that he was only close to crims so he could understand how they thought. Beyond getting his street smarts from crooks, he’d also study psychology books and was a fan of Freud. When he was on the scent of a fugitive, he was in his element, famously saying, ‘I’ve shot brumbies, I’ve chased steers, but there’s nothing to touch the thrill of the manhunt.’ No doubt he enjoyed the work and was a clever detective, but he got results less because he was a master huntsman and more because he had plenty of ‘fizzgigs’ – that is, informers.


On Valentine’s Day 1950, the Gunner, tipped by Lenny McPherson – his favourite fizzgig and therefore a rising criminal kingpin – was part of the squad that captured Dugan and Mears in a hideout in Collaroy. The fugitives were charged with attempted murder. The Daily Mirror and The Sun each splashed the capture over their first three pages. In court, Dugan and Mears claimed that Kelly and other cops had bashed and tortured them into writing false confessions. The jury didn’t buy it. They were convicted and sentenced to hang; these sentences were later commuted to life in prison.


This story was all over the news from December 1949 to June 1950. The boys of Boys’ Town surely followed every thrilling instalment, some vowing to never be like Dugan and others quietly taking inspiration from him. What Kevin couldn’t know was that in the future, his sister Jan would marry Darcy Dugan, that Bill Jenkings and Noel Bailey and every other reporter would fight for scoops about him, and that Ray Kelly and his colleagues would come after him with every available gun.


~


Simmo was discharged from Boys’ Town ten days before Christmas 1950.


What had happened to him there isn’t known. But what happened at Boys’ Town would be infamous. In early 1952, Father Dunlea retired and the town fell under the control of the Salesian Fathers of Don Bosco. More than half a century later, it was revealed that children had been horrifically abused, with some alumni very far from ‘success stories’ – including Australia’s most infamous serial killer, Ivan Milat, who was thirteen when he was sent there in 1957.


While the proved crimes at Engadine were committed after Dunlea’s departure, and so after Simmo’s time, there was at least one credible allegation of sexual abuse dating to 1942, suggesting there may have been dark secrets almost from inception. Yet not all priests and teachers were perpetrators and not all children were abused – and there has been no suggestion that Father Dunlea was involved in any such activity or that he covered it up. What can be said is that while Boys’ Town’s successes were numerous and authentic, the glowing press coverage was also wildly exaggerated. Whether this merely raised impossible expectations of the lads themselves or whether it masked some of their more horrific experiences, it’s reasonable to say the rosy reports didn’t represent reality for some boys who were there in 1949–50.


There was a strong suggestion that Kevin did experience something bad in a place where there were supposedly only good outcomes. Three decades later – yet long before stories of abuse became public – his sister Jan wrote that ‘when he finally came home, he was a very different boy. Something had changed him. He was very moody, very sullen, and more violent than ever. There seemed to be something in him that wanted to rebel all the time. From then on there was no stopping him’.


Kevin was never much for complaining or dobbing. If he was bullied, beaten, bastardised and/or sexually abused at Boys’ Town, he didn’t tell anyone (that we know about). But he did characterise his education in Father Dunlea’s care as the opposite of what it was supposed to be. ‘In Boys’ Town it was school all over again,’ Kevin said, ‘except that I wasn’t allowed to go by myself for walks in the bush, and I only studied three subjects.’


The first was cars. ‘I started to mess about with car engines in the machine shop,’ he said. ‘It was the first time I’d ever had the opportunity to see what made a car tick and it interested me. Motors and speed have always fascinated me.’ The second was music, which he described as ‘one of the greatest loves of my life … [But] in Boys’ Town, I realised that I could never become a great classical musician, so I decided to try my hand at the piano-accordion.’ The third was the trade skills he’d put to use upon release:


Subject number three was crime. I met kids from Sydney, who told me how to start a car by crossing the ignition with silver paper and how to break a shop window by smearing some treacle and stretching brown paper over it so the glass won’t break noisily on the footpath. I also learnt the marvellous things that can be done with a jemmy and a screwdriver in a darkened shop late at night. When I left Boys’ Town, there wasn’t much doubt which subject would eventually dominate me.
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Life’s a Joke


Simmo was home for Christmas 1950. Sheila didn’t see – or didn’t want to see – the darkness that Jan saw. In his mother’s later version of the homecoming, his arrival was depicted as having been a time of rejoicing, with family and friends delighted at his improvement.


Simmo’s own view of returning to Griffith was to laugh: ‘I still didn’t give a damn about anything. Life was still a big joke as far as I was concerned …’ He said he treated every job as ‘a means to make it funnier’, starting with work on a farm. ‘The tractors weren’t fast or “funny” enough,’ he said. ‘I quit and moved on.’ Old Jack screamed abuse and ordered him to get out of the family home. But he didn’t hit his son now that he was a muscular boxer standing closer to his adult height of around five feet eight inches. Yet Simmo was still cowed enough to leave the house. Sheila trembled in fear, as she did whenever Jack raged, but she calmed her husband and coaxed her son back. It was a routine she’d repeat many times.


~


Around this time, Simmo the ‘lone wolf’ made an unlikely friend in Tony Sergi. Tony was then fifteen and a half – three months older than Kevin – and the son of Italian immigrants who ran a peach farm at Tharbogang, five miles north-west of town. After being kicked out of a few schools, Tony was working at old James Vagg’s garage. At the time, they were short-handed and in need of another junior worker. One day, when Tony was collecting the staff morning tea from a town deli, there was a delay in the order. To pass the time, he strolled to the Lyceum to see what pictures were playing. He saw Simmo across the road and remembered him from Griffith High School. Even though they hadn’t been friends, the kid had stood out.
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